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STATE OF MINNESOTA 
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

November 25, 2019 

Mr. Daniel Wolf 
Executive Secretary 
Minnesota Public Utilities Commission 
121 Seventh Place East, Suite 350 
St. Paul, MN 55101-2147 

Re:   In the Matter of Minnesota Power’s Revised Petition for a Competitive Rate 
for Energy-Intensive Trade-Exposed (“EITE”) Customers 
Docket No. E-015/M-16-564 

Dear Mr. Wolf: 

The Office of the Attorney General—Residential Utilities and Antitrust Division 
(“OAG”) submits these comments in response to Minnesota Power’s request to extend the 
Company’s EITE rider until final rates take effect in its 2019 rate case.  According to the 
Company’s one-page letter, extending the rider will prevent “misalignment between the 
Commission’s decisions on new final rates and what impact, if any, the expiration of the current 
EITE Rider means for all Minnesota Power customers.”1 

The EITE rider provides a temporary rate discount to certain members of the Large 
Power class (“EITE customers”).  The rider took effect in February 2017 and expires in February 
2021.  Under certain conditions, Minnesota Power may surcharge other customers (“EITE-
paying customers”) to recover the discounts given to EITE customers through the rider.2  
Because of the way the cost-recovery mechanism works, the Company is not currently charging 
EITE-paying customers for the discounts.3  However, this could easily change by the time final 
rates take effect in the rate case, which will likely occur no earlier than late 2021.4  

1 EITE Docket, Docket No. E-015/M-16-564, Moeller Letter (Oct. 7, 2019); accord 2019 Rate Case, Docket No. E-
015/GR-19-442, Frederickson Direct Testimony at 31 (Nov. 1, 2019). 
2 See EITE Docket, Order Authorizing Cost Recovery with Conditions (Apr. 20, 2017). 
3 See EITE Docket, Annual Compliance Filing (Feb. 1, 2019) (see pages 6–7 of PDF document). 
4 In the Company’s last rate case, final rates went into effect more than two years after the initial filing.  See 2016 
Rate Case, Docket No. E-015/GR-16-664.  And in that case, there were not three rate cases ahead in the queue, as 
there are today.  Thus, it is possible that final rates in the 2019 rate case will not go into effect until early 2022. 
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Referring vaguely to rate-impact “misalignment,” Minnesota Power asks the Commission 
to extend the EITE rider for an indeterminate period.  The Commission should reject this request.  
EITE-paying customers deserve the finality and certainty of knowing that the rider will expire as 
scheduled and not be dragged out for an unknown number of months.  Moreover, as explained 
below, the Company has not met the statutory prerequisites for an extension, has not shown any 
other basis for an extension, and inappropriately asks the Commission to prejudge the outcome 
of the Company’s rate case. 

First, rate-impact misalignment is not a valid basis for extending the EITE rider.  The 
EITE statute, Minn. Stat. § 216B.1696, requires that a utility demonstrate a “net benefit” to the 
utility or the state before implementing an EITE rate.  The Commission found a net benefit from 
the EITE rate in 2016,5 but that finding hinged on the specific facts and circumstances presented 
to the Commission at the time, including the four-year term proposed by the Company.  Thus, 
although Minnesota Power styles its request as a procedural one, granting it would require an 
affirmative finding that a net benefit exists to support an extension.  The Company’s one-page, 
three-paragraph letter offers no proof that the EITE rate would provide any net benefit beyond its 
scheduled expiration date. 

Even if a net benefit were not required to extend the rider, the record reflects no other 
basis for an extension.  The rider’s expiration will simply mean that EITE customers go back to 
paying their nondiscounted rate, while EITE-paying customers will no longer be on the hook for 
surcharges.  To put it another way, one set of customers will lose a temporary benefit, 
unburdening another set of customers.  This is the foreseeable result of proposing a time-limited 
rider, is contemplated by the Commission’s EITE orders, and simply returns rates to the 
preexisting status quo. 

If the feared harm relates solely to “misalignment” in the timing of the rate changes 
occasioned by the rider’s expiration and the Commission’s rate-case decision, this too was 
foreseeable and is a problem of the Company’s own making.  It was foreseeable that a four-year 
rider would overlap temporally with the Company’s next rate case.  Moreover, if aligning rate 
impacts were truly a concern, Minnesota Power could have proposed the EITE discount as part 
of its last rate case.6  That way, its impact would have been reflected in base rates, and that 
impact would only change with final rates in the next rate case.  By choosing not to include the 
EITE discount in its last rate case, and choosing to file the current rate case when it has, the 
Company created the situation it now complains of.  Residential and small business customers 
should not be penalized for a misalignment that they did not create by having the continuing 
threat of an EITE surcharge held over their heads. 

5 See EITE Docket, Order Approving EITE Rate, Establishing Cost Recovery Proceeding, and Requiring Additional 
Filings (Dec. 21, 2016). 
6 See Minn. Stat. § 216B.1696, subd. 2(d) (providing that utility may recover EITE costs, and refund savings, 
through either a rate case or a rider). 
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Finally, Minnesota Power’s request inappropriately invites the Commission to prejudge 
the decisions that it will make in the Company’s pending rate case.  The Company’s prefiled 
testimony confirms its plan to, effectively, make the revenue-apportionment impact of the EITE 
rider permanent using rate design.7  Minnesota Power is within its rights to propose any rate 
design it wants.  The Commission, however, cannot predict the outcome of the rate case and 
should not base its EITE-extension decision on the Company’s proposal or on any of the many 
other potential outcomes in that case.  Furthermore, because EITE customers’ base rates do not 
include an EITE discount, it appears that Minnesota Power, by basing its interim rate design on 
discounted Large Power revenues, has changed the existing rate design in violation of the 
interim-rate statute, Minn. Stat. § 216B.16, subd. 3.8  

Minnesota Power may want to keep its largest customers happy by continuing to offer 
them a discount.  But the Company itself proposed both the four-year EITE rider and the general 
rate increase whose “misalignment” it now argues is a problem.  Residential and small business 
customers should not be punished for a misalignment that they did not create, and they certainly 
should not be kept on the hook for further surcharges without proof of a net benefit. 

For the foregoing reasons, the Commission should deny Minnesota Power’s request to 
extend  the  EITE  rider  beyond  its  approved term.  If  the  Commission  decides  to  change the  

7 See 2019 Rate Case, Podratz Direct Testimony at 103 (Nov. 1, 2019) (stating that “[i]nstead of offering a separate 
discount, Minnesota Power aims to design its Large Power base rates to be reasonably close to the Large Power 
class cost of service”). 
8 See id. (stating that “the EITE rate discount currently in effect is included in present rate revenues for the Large 
Power class, as shown on Volume 3, Direct Schedule E-1”); compare Required Filing Schedules, Direct Schedule E-
1 at 2 (showing present Large Power revenue of $325,538,419) with Interim Rates Petition, Direct Schedule C-8 
(Nov. 1, 2018) (showing same, discounted Large Power revenue amount being used for interim rate increase). 
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rider’s duration, all options, including terminating the rider effective with interim rates, should 
be on the table. 

Dated:  November 25, 2019 Respectfully submitted, 

KEITH ELLISON 
Attorney General 
State of Minnesota 

s/ Peter G. Scholtz 
PETER G. SCHOLTZ 
Assistant Attorney General 
Atty. Reg. No. 0389936 

445 Minnesota Street, Suite 1400 
St. Paul, Minnesota 55101-2131 
(651) 757-1473 (Voice)
(651) 296-9663 (Fax)
peter.scholtz@ag.state.mn.us
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AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE 

Re:   In the Matter of Minnesota Power’s Revised Petition for a Competitive Rate 
for Energy-Intensive Trade-Exposed (“EITE”) Customers 
Docket No. E-015/M-16-564 

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF RAMSEY ) 

I, JUDY SIGAL, hereby state that on November 25, 2019, I e-filed with eDockets  

Comments of the Office of the Attorney General—Residential Utilities and Antitrust Division 

and served the same upon all parties listed on the attached service list by email, and/or United 

States Mail with postage prepaid, and deposited the same in a U.S. Post Office mail receptacle in 

the City of St. Paul, Minnesota. 

s/ Judy Sigal 
Judy Sigal 

Subscribed and sworn to before me 
This 25th day of November, 2019. 

s/ Patricia Jotblad 
Notary Public 

My Commission expires:  January 31, 2020. 


































